

University of the Pacific **Scholarly Commons**

University of the Pacific Theses and Dissertations

University Libraries

2023

Exercise Behavior and Recreational Sports Participation Predicts Academic Success in University Students

Natalie Matian University of the Pacific

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarlycommons.pacific.edu/uop_etds



Part of the Sports Sciences Commons, and the Sports Studies Commons

Recommended Citation

Matian, Natalie. (2023). Exercise Behavior and Recreational Sports Participation Predicts Academic Success in University Students. University of the Pacific, Thesis. https://scholarlycommons.pacific.edu/ uop_etds/4178

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the University Libraries at Scholarly Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in University of the Pacific Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarly Commons. For more information, please contact mgibney@pacific.edu.

Exercise Behavior and Recreational Sports Participation Predicts Academic Success in University Students

By

Natalie Matian

A Thesis Submitted to the
Faculty of the Graduate School
in the partial fulfillment of the
Requirements for the Degree of
MASTER OF ARTS

College of the Pacific Health, Exercise, and Sports Sciences

University of the Pacific Stockton, California

Exercise Behavior and Recreational Sports Participation Predicts Academic Success in University Students

By

Natalie Matian

APPROVED BY:

Thesis Advisor: Courtney Jensen, Ph.D.

Committee Member: Mark Van Ness, Ph.D.

Committee Member: Scott Poulos, M.A., M.S.

Dedication

To Roland, Anett, Patrick, Ayda, and Jordy

This is for you.

I love you.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my parents, Roland and Anett Matian. The sacrifices you have made to get me to where I am now are unimaginable. I don't know how to express my love and gratitude to you both. Leaving your home country and immigrating to the United States at a young age in order to provide a better life for your family is truly selfless. Words cannot express how grateful I am to be your daughter. Completing my Masters is not just a representation of my own sacrifice, it's a representation of yours too because if you did not take that leap of faith of coming to the States, I would not be able to achieve anything that I have now. Thank you for risking your life, for starting over in a new place, and for being so resilient throughout the process. Thank you for your endless support. I love you both immensely.

To my brother, Dr. Patrick Matian. Thank you for being a role model for me my entire life. You have paved the way for me and first introduced me to the field of medicine. Your hard work and dedication throughout your years of undergraduate, graduate, and medical school were admirable and I strive to be like you. You exhibit such a positive light on me and I truly admire your work ethic. I would not be able to accomplish anything I have thus far without your guidance. I am forever grateful to be your little sister. I love you greatly.

To my grandmother and matriarch, Ayda Boghossian. Thank you for always encouraging me to strive to be the best and never settling for anything else. I feel so blessed to be your granddaughter. I owe my life to you and everything you have done for our family. I love you so much.

To my dog-son, Jordy. You won't be able to read and understand this, but you are the light of my eyes. Adopting you changed my life forever and I am so thankful to have you as my boy. I love you, papa.

To my professors, Dr. Courtney Jensen and Dr. Mark VanNess. Thank you both for helping me find my step in college with your endless support, patience, and insight. I am blessed to have worked alongside you both for 6 years. You inspire me to be the best version of myself. You both hold a special place in my heart for everything you have helped me accomplish. Thank you so much.

Exercise Behavior and Recreational Sports Participation Predicts Academic Success in University Students

Abstract

By Natalie Matian

University of the Pacific 2023

Most universities offer fitness and recreational opportunities. Few prospective studies have measured the effect of those services on academic outcomes. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the effect of exercise behavior and recreational sport participation on student success. We tracked 1,507 students at a private D1 university for 4 years. Upon completion of the 2017-2018 academic year, we exported a registry of every undergraduate student who accessed the university fitness center. We documented how often students swiped into the recreation facility and participated in group exercise classes, personal training sessions, and rock tower usage; these served as independent variables. We also recorded semester and cumulative GPA for the Spring 2018 semester; these served as dependent variables. Independent-sample t-tests and chi-squared tests measured group differences in academic outcomes. Linear regressions tested the effects of combinations of independent variables on GPA respectively. The results showed a 18.6% usage of Baun Fitness Center; 8.9% participated in group exercise classes, 0.15% participated in personal training sessions, and 4.8% participated in using the rock tower. Mean GPA was $3.1 \pm$ 0.6. Significant and trending elevations of GPA were observed in students who participated in group exercise classes (p<.001; 95% CI: 0.1 to 0.4) and swiped into Baun Fitness Center (p<.001). Analysis indicated no significant correlation between the number of rock tower swipes and personal training sessions with undergraduate GPA. In conclusion, increased involvement in exercise and recreational sports is associated with a higher GPA. Administrative emphasis on fitness programming may be an effective way to enhance student success.

Table of Contents

List of Tables.	9
List of Abbreviations	10
Chapter 1: Introduction	11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
Campus Recreation Background.	14
Campus Recreation and Academic Performance in College-Aged Students	15
Chapter 3: Methods	21
Data Collection	21
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	21
Statistical Analysis	22
Chapter 4: Results	23
Chapter 5: Discussion.	28
Chapter 6: Conclusion.	31
References	32

List of Tables

Table

1.	Descriptive and Independent Sample T-test Statistics for 1507 Students that Swipe into Baun	23
2.	Chi-Square Group Statistics by Gender	24
3.	Pearson Correlations among Measurable Dependent and Independent Variables.	25
4.	Linear Regression Model for Semester GPA as Dependent Variables	27

List of Abbreviations

GPA Grade point average

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Through its extensive facilities and extracurricular activities, the University of the Pacific excels at developing holistic programs that support the well-being of students in the Pacific community. Baun Fitness Center, the headquarters of on-campus recreation, waivers through hundreds of students on a daily basis. The center is fully equipped with cardio machines, free weights, selectorized equipment, a cycle studio, a racquetball court, multipurpose studios for group exercise classes, a 36-foot rock-climbing wall, and personal training services. It is also responsible for administering the participation of twelve active sports clubs, a variety of intramural sports, and outdoor adventure trips to multiple hotspots throughout Northern California. "The University of the Pacific is committed to the success and retention of all students through guidance, support, and cultivation of their personal well-being and development through the extracurricular programs and services offered" (Pacific Recreation, 2021). The University's ability to provide valuable opportunities for facilitating knowledge, skills, and beliefs of healthy behaviors through campus recreation centers enriches the campus environment by allowing students to engage in activities that improve their physical, cognitive, and social well-being.

The American College of Sports Medicine recommends healthy adults aged 18-65 years old participate in moderate aerobic physical activity for 30 minutes at least five times a week (Peterson & Tharrett, 2012). However, a considerable proportion of college students are inadequately physically active, with approximately 30% to 50% not obtaining enough physical activity to reap health benefits (Keating et al., 2010). The benefits of exercise are multifaceted and it can widely be believed that exercise is considered medicine for the human body

(Berryman, 2010). For many, the notion that exercise works to improve functional work capacity and metabolic health is self-evident (Gabriel & Zierath, 2017). Any form of exercise training is a scientifically validated intervention that can help deter health problems associated with metabolic disorders (Booth et al., 2012). Exercise promotes healthy physiological remodeling in cardiac structure and function which improves endothelial dysfunction, muscular blood supply and strength, ventricular contractility, ventilatory efficacy, and flexibility (La Gerche & Claessen, 2015). In other words, exercise puts good stress on your bones and muscles, which is essential for strength and durability, as well as muscle hypertrophy. Adopting healthy habits can help promote an overall healthy lifestyle in adulthood, however, the transition to college is frequently followed by an increase in unhealthy behaviors that may affect a student's academic performance (Ruthig et al., 2011). Evidence supports that adherence to exercise guidelines and training can positively influence academic performance (Keating et al., 2013; Reuter & Forster, 2021; Wald et al., 2014). Participation in recreational facilities on college campuses has also been linked to academic success. Roddy et al. (2017) illustrated that regular usage of the recreational center led to higher GPAs than those students who visited on an irregular basis.

The purpose of this study is to compile former undergraduate student data from Baun Fitness Center, Student Admissions, and Student Life to evaluate a relationship between facility usage and student success at the University of the Pacific, Stockton campus. This research will help determine if the use of Campus Recreation services, such as frequency of Baun Fitness Center attendance, use of rock climbing wall, and engagement in group exercise classes and personal training, has an effect on academic success, which will be characterized by GPA. Innosoft Fusion Software collects facility usage information from Baun Fitness Center at the

University of the Pacific. The information collected enables Campus Recreation employees to analyze and review student or member recreational data. The Innosoft Fusion data is utilized solely to analyze facility utilization among active students at the University of the Pacific. The study database is completely anonymous, with each participant being assigned a unique subject identification number. The hypothesis being tested is that more engagement in Student Life will correspond to a higher semester and cumulative GPA.

Students' academic success in higher education has become a primary focus of many American universities (Herzog, 2005; Levitz et al., 1999). It has been shown through research that supplementing exercise and well-being with your daily life positively benefits academic outcomes (Cid et al., 2017). Student success is measured by grade point average (GPA), and attrition is typically higher among students with lower GPAs (Braunstein et al., 2006). Although student performance is multifactorial, student engagement in exercise and Student Life are probable predictors of success. Numerous studies on exercise behavior and academic success have been performed, but much of the work is qualitative, and regression modeling remains relatively scarce (Calestine et al., 2017; Carnagio et al., 2016; Bellar et al., 2014). This study aims to elucidate the interrelationships between GPA, academic success, and various domains of student engagement on campus.

Campus Recreation Background

For students, faculty, staff, alumni, and spouses, college campus recreation centers offer cutting-edge facilities and extensive recreational programs. It aids in the education and holistic development of individuals who are seeking to relax, relieve stress, and network with people around campus. Additionally, these centers provide employment opportunities for students who are interested in a career in campus recreation or just need an on-campus job. Recreation centers serve as a sense of community for students to engage in imaginative and distinctive activities (Dalgarn, 2001). Baun Fitness Center at the University of the Pacific is the main recreational center on campus that is utilized by all students on a daily basis. Students are asked to swipe into the facility using their identification card administered by the university. This allows the recreation center to collect usage data and present research findings to the Division of Student Life, in hopes of the university tailoring campus offerings to be more compatible with student needs. Some of the programs that Baun Fitness Center offers are personal training services, outdoor activity trips, rock climbing, racquetball, and group exercise classes.

Over the years, many researchers have examined the overall benefits of university recreational centers for college students. Miller (2018) examines the relationship between university recreational sports facilities, social belonging, and student retention. The study found that students who utilized the recreation sports facilities had a stronger sense of social belonging on campus and were more likely to return the following school year. Additionally, it was found that sports facilities played a significant role in facilitating social interactions and creating a sense of community among students. Another study explored the various benefits of recreational

sports program participation for undergraduate students. Haines (2001) found that participating in recreational sports at campus recreation centers can have a positive impact on students' physical and mental health, as well as their social development and academic performance. Specifically, the study found that students who participated in recreational sports had higher levels of self-esteem, greater academic achievement, and stronger connections with their peers.

A multi-institutional meta-analysis conducted by Forrester (2015) examined the benefits of college students participating in campus recreation programs. The study was based on a national survey of more than 10,000 students from over 50 colleges and universities in the United States, which was conducted as part of the 2013 National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (NASPA) Assessment and Knowledge Consortium. The findings showed that students who participated in recreational sports had higher levels of physical activity, better overall health, and greater academic success compared to their non-participating peers. Students who participated in recreational sports had higher GPAs than those who did not, with an average difference of 0.17 points. Recreational sports participation was also associated with a greater sense of community and social connectedness, as well as increased leadership skills and civic engagement. Students participating in recreational sports were more likely to stay enrolled at their institution, with retention rates 5-7% higher than non-participants. Overall, recreation center usage highlights the importance of recreational sports programs in promoting the physical, mental, and social well-being of college students and lowering levels of stress, anxiety, and depression.

Campus Recreation and Academic Performance in College-Aged Students

Understanding previous research conducted on campus recreation participation and student academic success is important to keep analyzing so data stays up to date and is beneficial

to university administrators globally (Kampf & Teske, 2013). The correlations between campus recreation engagement and academic success have been investigated to determine if aspects of campus life can aid students' efforts to maximize their college experience. Stier et al. (2005) conducted survey-based research to investigate the activities emphasized, student participation patterns, trends, and future offerings contemplated by campus recreation directors at National Intramural-Recreational Sports Association (NIRSA) institutions. The study found that the most popular activities were fitness and wellness programs, intramural sports, and informal recreation, while outdoor recreation and sports clubs were growing in popularity. The directors reported that the participation rate in campus recreation programs was increasing, and they were planning to offer more diverse programs in the future. Findings suggest that campus recreation programs are evolving to meet the changing needs and interests of college students. Danbert et al. (2014) aimed to investigate the relationship between the usage of campus recreational sports and fitness facilities and the academic success and retention of university students. The researchers conducted a survey of 427 undergraduate students from a large public university in the United States. The survey asked questions about the students' frequency and duration of using the university's recreational sports facilities, as well as their academic performance and intention to return to the university for the next academic year. The study found a significant positive relationship between the frequency and duration of recreational sports facilities and academic success, as measured by GPA and course completion rate. The results also showed that students who used recreational sports facilities were more likely to report higher levels of satisfaction with the university and their overall university experience. Finally, the study found that students who used the recreational sports facilities were more likely to intend to return to the university for the next academic year, which has implications for student retention. This suggests that the

availability and usage of recreational sports fitness facilities on university campuses can have a positive impact on student's academic success and satisfaction with the university, which in turn may increase their intention to return and ultimately improve student retention.

Additionally, Huesman et al. (2007) aimed to determine if the use of campus recreation facilities has a relationship with academic success among college students. The researchers collected data through surveys and university records and analyzed it using structural equation modeling. The results showed that there is a positive correlation between the frequency of using campus recreation facilities and academic success. Furthermore, the study found that recreation facility usage contributes to student satisfaction with their university experience. Sanderson et al. (2017) discuss the relationship between college students' participation in recreation activities and their academic success. The study found that students who participated in the college recreation center's programs had higher GPAs and a higher likelihood of staying enrolled in school. The study also identifies specific factors of the recreation center that contributed to this positive relationship, including social support, time management skills, and stress reduction.

To further investigate these relationships, Kiss (2017) discusses the link between participation in specific campus recreation programs and academic success in undergraduate students. The study found that participants in campus recreation programs completed more class credits and obtained a higher GPA than nonparticipants. It also found significantly higher retention rates. It is evident through proper administration and marketing of campus program offerings, undergraduate students can attain better academic performance. Moreover, Roddy et al. (2017) examined the relationship between university students' recreation center usage and academic performance. The research suggests that students who use the recreation center regularly tend to have higher GPAs than those who don't use it or use it less frequently. The

study also suggests that students who participate in group fitness classes may have higher GPAs than those who don't participate in any fitness activities. The authors suggest that universities should consider promoting and encouraging recreation center usage as a way to support student success.

The study by Zhai et al. (2020) investigated the relationship between physical fitness and academic performance among Chinese college students. The authors aimed to explore the relationship between various dimensions of physical fitness and academic performance, as well as the potential mediating role of academic self-efficacy. The study included 1,438 college students from three universities in China. Physical fitness was assessed using five measures, including cardiorespiratory endurance, muscular strength, muscular endurance, flexibility, and body composition. Academic performance was measured using students' GPAs. The authors also assessed students' academic self-efficacy, which refers to their belief in their ability to successfully perform academic tasks. The results of the study showed that physical fitness was positively associated with academic performance among Chinese college students. Specifically, students who scored higher on measures of cardiorespiratory endurance, muscular strength, and flexibility had higher GPAs. Interestingly, body composition was not found to be a significant predictor of academic performance. The authors also found that academic self-efficacy partially mediated the relationship between physical fitness and academic performance. This suggests that students with higher levels of physical fitness may have higher levels of academic selfefficacy, which in turn contributes to better academic performance. The findings of this study have important implications for promoting physical fitness and academic performance among college students. The authors suggest that efforts to improve students' physical fitness levels could potentially improve their academic performance as well. Additionally, the role of

academic self-efficacy in this relationship highlights the importance of promoting students' confidence in their academic abilities. It is important to note that the study has several limitations, including the use of self-reported measures of physical activity and potential confounding variables that were not accounted for in the analysis. Nonetheless, the study provides valuable insights into the relationship between physical fitness and academic performance among college students and underscores the importance of promoting physical activity and fitness as part of a comprehensive approach to promoting student success.

Although numerous studies have revealed the advantages of exercising and participating in campus recreation, not all research establishes a link between campus recreation engagement and academic performance (Hall, 2006). While researchers have found positive correlations, certain findings contradict this relationship. Whitford (2021) investigated the relationship between physical activity and GPA among college students. It was conducted using a correlational research design and involved a sample of 200 undergraduate students from a large public university in the southeastern United States who were enrolled in the Spring 2019 semester. Physical activity levels were measured using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire, which assesses the frequency and intensity of physical activity over the past seven days. The survey consisted of four blocks of questions: Block 1 included questions on sociodemographics and self-reported GPA; Block 2 included questions on health-related behaviors, such as physical activity; Block 3 included self-report questionnaires on depression and personality; and Block 4 consisted of a series of computer-based cognitive tasks. GPAs were obtained from official university records. When controlling for age, sex, race/ethnicity, and number of years in college, Whitford suggests that there is no correlation between physical activity and GPA (p<.05). Although the results did not support the known findings from other

peer reviews, Whitford's study still provides valuable insights into the relationship between physical activity and academic performance among college students and underscores the importance of promoting physical activity as part of a comprehensive approach to supporting student success. Future research is necessary to further explore the relationship between the usage of campus recreation centers, recreational sport participation, and academic performance.

The discussed methods aim to discover the interrelationships between student fitness participation, campus recreation engagement, and academic performance.

Data Collection:

Once permission was obtained from the Institutional Review Board (IRB), facility usage data was compiled from Baun Fitness Center from 1507 undergraduate students at the University of the Pacific during the Spring 2018 semester. The IRB approval letter can be found in Appendix A. Each time a member accesses the facility, an identification card is swiped and recorded. The electronic database software, Innosoft Fusion, places a timestamp on this swipe and records it. The Recreation Staff at Baun Fitness Center can access the number of times a member swipes into the facility. The data was exported and compiled, deleting all personal identifiers, such as name and student identification number. It was then replaced with a new subject identification number. The only data preserved in the database are year and semester, semester and cumulative GPA, number of swipes in Baun Fitness Center and Rock Tower, and usage of exercise classes and personal training.

The continuous independent variables measured in this study are facility usage information from Baun Fitness Center, the number of times a student engaged in group exercise classes and personal training, and the number of swipes at the rock tower. The dependent variables examined are class information and semester and cumulative GPA.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria:

Inclusion criteria are defined as undergraduate students enrolled at the University of the Pacific during the Spring 2018 semester. Special considerations will be made for full-time and

part-time status, although both groups were eligible. Students who are of graduate standing and students who are auditing classes are excluded from the study.

Statistical Analysis:

Each sample was characterized with means, standard deviations, categorical percentages, and p-values. Using comparison data, the independent and dependent variables between males and females were assessed using independent sample t-tests and chi-square tests. A Pearson correlation coefficient was computed to assess the linear relationship between the number of swipes at Baun and semester GPA. Simple linear regression analyses were performed to test if the number of Baun swipes, group exercise classes, rock tower usage, and personal training swipes significantly predicted semester GPA points. Statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS 28.0.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Descriptive and independent sample t-test demographic data analysis is shown in Table 1. Among the 1507 participants in this study, 47.1% are males and 52.9% are females. Independent sample t-test showed statistical significance of semester and cumulative GPA among males and females ($p = \langle 0.001 \rangle$). The effect is more pronounced in females than males, with an average semester GPA for males of 3.0 ± 0.9 and an average semester GPA of 3.1 ± 0.7 for females. The average cumulative GPA for males was 3.0 ± 0.6 , while the females had an average cumulative GPA of 3.2 ± 0.6 . The average number of swipes at Baun Fitness Center ($p = \langle 0.001 \rangle$) showed a higher swipe average in males (21.4 ± 20.3) than in females (16.0 ± 16.0).

Table 1Descriptive and Independent Sample T-test Statistics for 1507 students that swipe into Baun

	Total	Male	Female	P-Value
N	1507	709	795	
Gender	0.5 ± 0.5	0.6 ± 0.5	0.5 ± 0.5	p = 0.52
Class Information	3.0 ± 1.0	3.0 ± 1.0	3.1 ± 1.0	p = 0.55
Semester GPA	3.0 ± 0.8	3.0±0.9	3.1 ± 0.7	p = < 0.001
Cumulative GPA	3.0 ± 0.6	3.0 ± 0.6	3.2 ± 0.6	p = < 0.001
Baun Access Count	18.5 ± 18.3	21.4 ± 20.3	16.0 ± 16.0	p = < 0.001
Number of Tiger Training Swipes	0.0 ± 0.5	0.0 ± 0.4	0.1 ± 0.5	p = 0.307
Number of Rock Tower Swipes	0.1 ± 0.9	0.1±0.6	0.1±1.2	p = 0.558

A Chi-square test of independence in Table 2 was performed to examine the relationship between gender and participation in activity classes and exercise on the weekends. There was a significant difference in activity class participation between males and females, $X^2(1, N = 1507 = 63.9, p = <.001)$, as females were more likely to attend an activity class than males. There was no significant association between males and females exercising on the weekends, $X^2(1, N = 1507 = 2.2, p = 3.330)$.

Table 2Chi-Square Group Statistics by Gender

	Total	Male	Female	P-Value
% Tiger X Participation	0.1±0.3	2.7%	14.4%	p = <0.001
% Exercise on Weekends	0.6 ± 0.5	60.2%	56.5%	p = 0.330

Table 3 presents a weak positive Pearson correlation coefficient between the number of Baun access swipes and semester GPA, r = .113, n = 1507, showing a statistically significant model (p = <.001).

 Table 3:

 Pearson Correlations among Measurable Dependent and Independent Variables

Varia	bles	Semeste r GPA	Cumulat ive GPA	Baun Access Count	Rock Tower Swipes	Tiger Training Swipes	Tiger X Participati on
Semester GPA	Pearson Correlati on	1	.805**	.113**	.020	.035	.102**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	<.001	.429	.177	<.001
Cumulativ e GPA	Pearson Correlati on	.805**	1	.111**	.025	.042	.127**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		<.001	.333	.103	<.001
Baun Access Count	Pearson Correlati on	.113**	.111**	1	.079**	014	.035
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001	<.001		.002	.592	.179
Rock Tower Swipes	Pearson Correlati on	.020	.025	.079**	1	004	.016
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.429	.333	.002		.871	.544
Tiger Training Swipes	Pearson Correlati on	.035	.042	014	004	1	016
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.177	.103	.592	.871		.542
Tiger X Participati on	Pearson Correlati on	.102**	.127**	.035	.016	016	1

(Table 3 Continued)

**Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Simple linear regression in Table 4 was used to compare if Baun access swipes, tiger X class participation, rock tower swipes, and tiger training swipes significantly predicted semester GPA. The model showed that every swipe recorded at Baun Fitness Center increases Spring 2018 semester GPA points by .005 (p = <.001; 95% CI: .003, .007). The overall model was significant (p <.001; $R^2 =.013$). Every member who participated in a Tiger X group activity class increased semester GPA points by .288 (p = <.001; 95% CI: .147, .430). The overall model was significant (p = <.001; $R^2 =.010$). Baun access count retains significance (p = <.001). Holding Baun access count constant, the number of tiger training swipes was not significant (p = .157) and rock tower usage was not significant (p = .642). Although both did not show a pattern of increase, the overall model was significant (p = <.001; $R^2 = .013$).

 Table 4

 Linear Regression Model with Semester GPA as the Dependent Variable

			95 % Confidence Interval		
	Unstandard. Beta	P-Value	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
Baun Access Count	.005	<.001	.003	.007	
Tiger X Participation	.288	<.001	.147	.430	
Rock Tower Swipes	.010	.642	033	.053	
Tiger Training Swipes	.064	.157	025	.153	

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The present study aimed to investigate the relationship between exercise behavior, recreational sports participation, and academic success among undergraduate students enrolled in the Spring 2018 semester. The results of the study suggest that exercise behavior and recreational sports participation are significant predictors of academic success in university students. Involvement in fitness activities and recreational sports was associated with better academic outcomes. Specifically, participation in group exercise classes was found to be a significant predictor of higher GPA, with students who participated in exercise classes showing significant and trending elevations in GPA. The findings of the study are consistent with previous research, which has demonstrated a positive relationship between physical activity and academic performance. This helps provide further evidence that exercise behavior and recreational sports participation are associated with higher academic success in university students.

This study has several implications for university administrators, faculty, and students. The results suggest that promoting exercise behavior and recreational sports participation among university students may lead to higher academic success. Universities could provide more opportunities for students to engage in physical activity, such as offering more fitness classes or recreational sports programs. This may suggest that fitness centers provide a positive environment that encourages healthy behaviors, including academic success. There are important factors to consider when developing strategies to support academic success among university students. Universities could provide targeted support to undergraduate students and students in certain academic majors, such as providing mentorship programs or academic

resources specific to their major. The study's strengths include its large sample size, which enhances the generalizability of the findings, and the use of longitudinal data that allowed for a more comprehensive evaluation of the relationship between exercise behavior and academic outcomes. Furthermore, the study found that sex was also a significant predictor of GPA, with female students who participated in group exercise classes having higher GPAs than male students. This finding is consistent with previous research indicating that female students tend to perform better academically than male students (Keating et al., 2013). It is possible that sex differences in academic success may be related to differences in motivation, study habits, or other factors. Interestingly, there was no significant correlation between the number of rock tower swipes and personal training sessions with undergraduate GPA. This may suggest that different types of physical activity have different effects on academic performance. It is also possible that these activities attract a different type of student who may have different academic goals or priorities.

It is important to note that the present study has several limitations. Firstly, it was conducted at a single private university and may not be generalizable to other institutions. This study only included undergraduate students in the Spring 2018 semester, however, future studies can include a larger varied sample of students that includes all-level college students from the other institutions. Secondly, the study only measured the association between physical activity and academic performance and cannot determine causality. It is possible that students who perform better academically are more likely to participate in physical activity. Future research could address this by conducting a randomized controlled trial. Other variables could have been investigated within this relationship, including graduation and retention rates between males and females.

This research adds to the growing body of evidence highlighting the relationship between physical activity and academic success. The findings suggest that universities and colleges should prioritize the provision of fitness and sports programs as part of their student support services. These programs can enhance students' academic success by promoting physical activity and potentially improving their overall health and well-being.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

The study was conducted to examine the relationship between exercise behaviors and academic success in college students. It showed the statistical significance of the number of times a member swiped into recreation facilities with their semester and cumulative GPA. The average GPA between males and females showed a low contrast in significance. A positive association between the number of swipes at Baun Fitness Center and GPA suggests there is a need to further examine this casual relationship. Information researched in this study regarding academic performance and exercise can be used to evaluate how students' involvement in recreation facilities affects student academic outcomes, which can benefit a university in many aspects. With all implications added, students can be better positioned for graduate school admission and post-graduate employment.

References

- Bellar, D., Judge, L., Petersen, J., Bellar, A., & Bryan, C. (2014). Exercise and academic performance among nursing and kinesiology. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*. Retrieved December 6, 2022, from https://www.jehp.net/article.asp?issn=2277-9531;year=2014;volume=3;issue=1;spage=9;epage=9;aulast=Bellar
- Berryman, Jack W. (2010). Exercise is medicine: A historical perspective. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*, 9(4):p 195-201. DOI: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e3181e7d86d
- Booth, F. W., Roberts, C. K., & Laye, M. J. (2012). Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 2(2), 1143–1211. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c110025
- Braunstein, A. W., Lesser, M. H., & Pescatrice D. R. (2006). The business of student retention in the post-September 11 environment: Financial, institutional and external influences.

 *Journal of American Academy of Business, 8, 134-141.
- Calestine, J., Bopp, M., Bopp, C. M., & Papalia, Z. (2017). College student work habits are related to physical activity and fitness. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, 10(7), 1009–1017. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5685070/
- Carnagio, J., Haile, C., Hunt, R., & Storm, N. (2016). The relationship between exercise and GPA for college students. https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/items/103012

- Dalgarn, M. K. (2001). The role of the campus recreation center in creating a community. *Recreational Sports Journal*, 25(1), 66–72. https://doi.org/10.1123/nirsa.25.1.66
- Danbert, S. J., Pivarnik, J. M., McNeil, R. N., & Washington, I. J. (2014). Academic success and retention: The role of recreational sports fitness facilities. *Recreational Sports Journal*, 38(1), 14-22
- Forrester, S. (2015). Benefits of collegiate recreational sports participation: Results from the 2013 NASPA assessment and knowledge consortium study. *Recreational Sports Journal*, 39(1), 2–15. https://doi.org/10.1123/rsj.2015-0005
- Gabriel, B. M., & Zierath, J. R. (2017). The limits of exercise physiology: From performance to health. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(5), 1000–1011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.018
- Haines, D. J. (2001). Undergraduate students benefit from university recreation. *Recreational Sports Journal*, 25(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1123/nirsa.25.1.25
- Hall, D. A. (2006). Participation in a campus recreation program and its effect on student retention. Recreational Sports Journal, 30, 40-45.
- Henshaw, B., & Archibald, J. G. (2013). The benefits and barriers of physical activity among college students. *Georgia Journal of College Student Affairs*, 29(1). https://doi.org/10.20429/gcpa.2013.290102
- Herzog, S. (2005). Measuring determinants of student return vs. dropout/stopout vs.transfer: A first-to-second year analysis of new freshmen. *Research in Higher Education*, 46, 883-928.

- Huesman Jr, R. L., Brown, A. K., Lee, G., Kellogg, J. P., & Radcliffe, P. M. (2007). Modeling student academic success: Does usage of campus recreation facilities make a difference?
- Kampf, S. & Teske, E. J. (2013). Collegiate recreation participation and retention. *Recreational Sports Journal*, *37*, 85-96.
- Keating, X. D., Castelli, D., & Ayers, S. F. (2013). Association of weekly strength exercise frequency and academic performance among students at a large university in the United States. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 27(7), 1988–1993. https://doi.org/10.1519/jsc.0b013e318276bb4c
- Keating, X. D., Guan, J., Piñero, J. C., & Bridges, D. M. (2005). A meta-analysis of college students' physical activity behaviors. *Journal of American College Health*, *54*(2), 116–126. https://doi.org/10.3200/jach.54.2.116-126
- Kiss, J. E. (2017). The relationship between participation in campus recreation programs and college student academic success. *Michigan State University*.
- La Gerche, A., & Claessen, G. (2015). Is exercise good for the right ventricle? Concepts for health and disease. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, *31*(4), 502–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2015.01.022
- Levitz, R. S., Noel, L., & Richter, B. J. (1999). Strategic moves for retention success. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 108, 31-49.
- Maureira Cid, F., & Munoz, H. D. (2017). Physical exercise and academic performance. *MOJ Sports Medicine*, 1(4). https://doi.org/10.15406/mojsm.2017.01.00021

- Miller, J. J. (2018). Impact of a university recreation center on social belonging and student retention. *Recreational Sports Journal*, *35*(2), 117–129. https://doi.org/10.1123/rsj.35.2.117
- Pacific Recreation. (2021). Www.pacific.edu. Retrieved December 6, 2022, from https://www.pacific.edu/student-life/activities-programs/pacific-recreation
- Peterson, J. A., & Tharrett, S. J. (2012). ACSM's Health/Fitness Facility Standards and Guidelines. *Human Kinetics*.
- Reuter, P. R., & Forster, B. L. (2021). Student health behavior and academic performance.

 PeerJ, 9, e11107. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.11107
- Roddy, L., Pohle-Krauza, R. J., & Geltz, B. (2017). Recreation center utilization affects academic outcomes. *Recreational Sports Journal*, *41*(1), 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1123/rsj.2016-0041
- Ruthig, J.C., Marrone, S., Hladkyj, S., & Robinson-Epp, N. (2011). Changes in college student health: Implications for academic performance. *Journal of College Student Development* 52(3), 307-320. doi:10.1353/csd.2011.0038.
- Sanderson, H., DeRousie, J., & Guistwite, N. (2017). Impact of collegiate recreation on academic success. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, *55*(1), 40–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/19496591.2017.1357566
- San Román-Mata, S., Puertas-Molero, P., Ubago-Jiménez, J. L., & González-Valero, G. (2020).

 Benefits of physical activity and its associations with resilience, emotional intelligence, and psychological distress in university students from southern Spain. *International*

- Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(12), 4474. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17124474
- Stier, W. F., Schneider, R. C., Kampf, S., Haines, S. G. & Wilding, G. E. (2005). A survey of campus recreation directors at NIRSA institutions: Activities emphasized, student participation patterns, trends and future offerings contemplated. *Kinesiology, Sport Studies and Physical Education Faculty Publications*, 45.
- Tyson, P., Wilson, K., Crone, D., Brailsford, R., & Laws, K. (2010). Physical activity and mental health in a student population. *Journal of Mental Health*, *19*(6), 492–499. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638230902968308
- Wald, A., Muennig, P. A., O'Connell, K. A., & Garber, C. E. (2014). Associations between healthy lifestyle behaviors and academic performance in U.S. undergraduates: A secondary analysis of the American College Health Association's National College Health Assessment II. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 28(5), 298–305. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.120518-quan-265
- Whitford, T. C. (2021). A correlational study on physical activity and GPA among college students. *The Owl Florida State University's Undergraduate Research Journal*. https://journals.flvc.org/owl/article/view/128682
- Zhai, X., Ye, M., Gu, Q., Huang, T., Wang, K., Chen, Z., & Fan, X. (2020). The relationship between physical fitness and academic performance among Chinese college students.

 Journal of American College Health, 70(2), 395–403.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1751643